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Part I Financial Information 
Item 1 Financial Statements 
 

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

(unaudited)

Cash and due from banks 21,127$                  15,583$                
Federal funds sold 2,000                      2,000                    

Total cash and cash equivalents 23,127                    17,583                  

Time deposits with banks 744                         744                       

Investment securities:
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost 5,989                      5,988                    
Available-for-sale (at fair market value; amortized cost of $115,088

in 2016 and $127,735 in 2015) 116,966                  128,599                
Total investment securities 122,955                  134,587                

Loans, less allowance for loan losses of $4,735
in 2016 and $4,731 in 2015 359,553                  343,217                

Bank premises and equipment, net 5,613                      5,498                    
Investment in Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost 2,701                      2,701                    
Goodwill 4,119                      4,119                    
Other Real Estate Owned -                             -                            

Accrued interest receivable and other assets 3,370                      4,916                    

Total assets 522,182$                513,365$              

Deposits:
Demand - non interest-bearing 110,193$                98,062$                
Demand - interest-bearing 55,082                    56,281                  
Savings 27,298                    27,644                  
Money market 59,018                    59,445                  
Time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC insurance limit 52,793                    53,953                  
Other time deposits 102,717                  101,861                

Total deposits 407,101                  397,246                

Federal Home Loan Bank advances 53,800                    55,800                  
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 2,703                      2,994                    

Total liabilities 463,604                  456,040                

Shareholders' equity 
Preferred stock, no par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized;

-                             -                            

Common stock, no par value; shares authorized - 30,000,000 shares; issued

and outstanding 4,793,029 in 2016 and 4,783,170 in 2015 36,711                    36,704                  
Retained earnings 20,874                    20,120                  
Accumulated other comprehensive income 993                         501                       

Total shareholders' equity 58,578                    57,325                  
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 522,182$                513,365$              

no shares issued and outstanding

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

(In thousands except share data)

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

ASSETS
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March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Interest income:
Interest and fees on loans 4,111$                                3,373$                                
Interest on federal funds sold 2                                         1$                                       
Interest on investment securities and deposits in banks 867                                     956$                                   
Dividends on FHLB stock 54                                       48                                       

Total interest income 5,034                                  4,378                                  
Interest expense:

Deposits 239                                     179                                     
FHLB advances 92                                       44                                       

Total interest expense 331                                     223                                     
Net interest income before provision for loan losses 4,703                                  4,155                                  

Provision for loan losses -                                          -                                          
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 4,703                                  4,155                                  

Non-interest income:
Service charges on deposit accounts 182                                     157                                     
Rental income 138                                     133                                     
Net securities gain 133                                     -                                          
Net gain on other real estate owned -                                          1,125                                  
Loan servicing, net 1                                         2                                         
Other income -                                          126                                     

Total non-interest income 454                                     1,543                                  
Non-interest expense:

Salaries and employee benefits 1,587                                  1,412                                  
Occupancy and equipment 265                                     309                                     
Other expenses 1,046                                  1,047                                  

Total non-interest expense 2,898                                  2,768                                  
Income before provision for income taxes 2,259                                  2,930                                  

Provision for income taxes 931                                     1,208                                  
Net income 1,328$                                1,722$                                

Less:  preferred dividends -                                          34                                       
Net income available for common shareholders 1,328$                                1,688$                                

Basic earnings per common share 0.28$                                  0.35$                                  
Diluted earnings per common share 0.27$                                  0.35$                                  

Basic weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 4,784 4,782
Diluted weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 4,831 4,838

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands except earnings per share data)

Three Months Ended
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March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Net income 1,328$                     1,722$                    

Change in securities available-for-sale:
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securites 
    arising during the period 1,147                       1,388                      

                         (133)                               - 

Net unrealized gains, before tax 1,014                       1,388                      
Income tax expense (522)                         (583)                       

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 492                          805                         

Comprehensive income 1,820$                     2,527$                    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) realized in net income 

     on available-for-sale securities
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Accumulated
Other Total

Retained Comprehensive Shareholders'
Preferred Stock Shares Amount Earnings Income (Loss) Equity

Balance, January 1, 2015 13,666$                     4,778 36,646$             16,560$           708$                 67,580$            

Net income 6,030               6,030                

Other comprehensive loss (207)                 (207)                  

Stock-based compensation expense 24                      24                     

Retirement of preferred stock, net of issuance costs (13,666)                     (84)                  (13,750)             

Preferred stock dividends (92)                  (92)                    

Exercise of stock options 5                      34                      34                     
(2,294)             (2,294)               

Balance, December 31, 2015 -                            4,783 36,704 20,120 501 57,325

Net income 1,328               1,328                

Other comprehensive income 492                   492                   

Stock-based compensation expense 9                        9                       

Exercise of stock options 10                    (2)                       (2)                      
Cash dividends - $0.12 per share (574)                (574)                  

Balance, March 31, 2016 -$                          4,793 36,711$             20,874$           993$                 58,578$            

Cash dividends - $0.48 per share

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 (Unaudited) and the Year Ended December 31, 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY

(In thousands except per share data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Common Stock
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(In thousands) 2016 2015
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 1,328$                 1,722$                

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 85                        101                     
Securities amortization and accretion, net 140                      148                     
Net change in deferred loan fees (165)                    (216)                    
Provision for (reversal of) loan losses -                          -                          
Net gain on other real estate owned -                          (1,125)                 
Net securities gains (133)                    -                          
Net change in accrued interest

receivable and other assets 1,025                   (42)                      
Net change in accrued interest

payable and other liabilities (291)                    (209)                    
Stock-based compensation expense 9                          5                         

Net cash from operating activities 1,998                   384                     

Cash flows from investing activities:
Net change in time deposits with banks -                          -                          
Purchases of held-to-maturity investment

securities -                          -                          
Purchases of available-for-sale investment

securities (5,494)                 (10,007)               
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale

investment securities -                          -                          
Proceeds from calls of held-to-maturity

investment securities -                          3,000                  
Proceeds from calls and maturities of available-for-sale

investment securities 18,132                 2,483                  
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank stock -                          -                          
Net change in loans (16,171)               (9,588)                 
Purchases of bank premises and equipment (200)                    (42)                      
Proceeds on sale of other real estate owned -                          2,501                  

Net cash from (used in) investing activities (3,733)                 (11,653)               

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

Three Months Ended March 31,
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(In thousands) 2016 2015
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in demand, savings

and money market deposits 10,159                 14,639                
Net change in certificates of deposit (304)                    (3,686)                 
Net change in short term FHLB advances (17,000)               2,000                  
Issuance of long term FHLB advances 15,000                 -                          
Repayment of long term FHLB advances -                          -                          
Dividends paid on common stock (574)                    (574)                    
Dividends paid on preferred stock -                          (34)                      
Proceeds from exercise of stock options (2)                        32                       

Net cash from financing activities 7,279                   12,377                

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 5,544                   1,108                  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 17,583                 23,313                

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 23,127$               24,421$              

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information:

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest 317$                    231$                   
Income taxes 300$                    1,150$                

Noncash investing activities:
Financing of other real estate owned sale -$                        2,675$                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three Months Ended March 31,
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SUMMIT STATE BANK AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) 
 
1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

General 
 

On January 15, 1999, Summit State Bank (the “Bank” or “the Bank”) received authority to transact business as a 
California state-chartered commercial bank and is subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the State of 
California Department of Business Oversight and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Bank was 
incorporated on December 20, 1982 under the name Summit Savings. The Bank provides a variety of banking 
services to individuals and businesses in its primary service area of Sonoma County, California.  The Bank's branch 
locations include Santa Rosa, Petaluma, Rohnert Park and Healdsburg. The Bank offers depository and lending 
services primarily to meet the needs of its business and individual clientele.  These services include a variety of 
transaction, money market, savings and time deposit account alternatives.  The Bank's lending activities are directed 
primarily towards commercial real estate, construction and business loans. The Bank utilizes its subsidiary Alto 
Service Corporation for its deed of trust services. 

 
The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2016 and for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 

2015 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, these unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all 
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals necessary to present fairly the consolidated financial 
statements of the Bank. 
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for interim financial information and Article 8 of Regulation S-X of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2016 are not 
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016. These unaudited 
consolidated financial statements do not include all disclosures associated with the Bank’s consolidated annual 
financial statements and notes thereto and accordingly, should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto included in the Bank’s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2015 on Form 
10-K on file with the FDIC (Form 10-K may be found at www.summitstatebank.com). 

 
The accompanying accounting and reporting policies of the Bank and subsidiary conform to U.S. Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles and prevailing practices within the banking industry. 
 

Principles of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Bank and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Alto 
Service Corporation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 
Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. The allowance for loan losses, 
goodwill impairment, valuation of other real estate owned, and fair values of investment securities are particularly 
subject to change.  
 

Earnings Per Common Share 
 

Basic earnings per common share (EPS), which excludes dilution, is computed by dividing income available to 
common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.  Diluted 
earnings per common share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue 
common stock, such as stock options, result in the issuance of common stock which share in the earnings of the 
Bank.  Stock Options for 42,000 shares of common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2016 were not 
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considered in computing diluted earnings per share because they were anti-dilutive.  Stock options for 56,000 shares 
of common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2015 were not considered in computing diluted earnings per 
share because they were anti-dilutive. 

 
The factors used in the earnings per common share computation follow: 
 

(in thousands except earnings per share) March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Basic
Net income available for common shareholders 1,328$                     1,688$                     

Weighted average common shares outstanding 4,784                       4,782                       

Basic earnings per common share 0.28$                       0.35$                       

Diluted
Net income available for common shareholders 1,328$                     1,688$                     

Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding for basic earnings per 
  common share 4,784                       4,782                       
Add: Dilutive effects of assumed exercises of 
  stock options 47                            56                            

Average shares and dilutive potential common
 shares 4,831                       4,838                       

Diluted earnings per common share 0.27$                       0.35$                       

Three Months Ended
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2. REGULATORY CAPITAL 
 

The Bank’s actual and required capital amounts and ratios consisted of the following: 
 

(in thousands) Amount Ratio

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    13.1%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 26,491$    6.5%
Minimum regulatory requirement 18,340$    4.5%

Tier 1 Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    13.1%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 32,605$    8.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 24,453$    6.0%

Total Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 58,257$    14.3%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 40,756$    10.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 32,605$    8.0%

Tier 1 Leverage Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    10.3%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 25,907$    5.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 20,725$    4.0%

March 31, 2016

 
 
Preferred Stock 

 
On August 4, 2011, the Bank issued 13,750 shares for $13,750,000 of Fixed Rate Non-cumulative Perpetual 

Preferred Stock, Series B (the “Preferred Stock”), which was recorded net of $84,000 in issuance costs. The 
Preferred Stock was issued under the Small Business Lending Fund (SBLF) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury 
and had an initial non-cumulative dividend rate of 5% per annum.  The dividend rate was adjusted lower each 
quarter depending on increases that occur in qualifying loans as described in the SBLF program. The Preferred 
Stock was redeemed at par value of $13,750,000 on August 31, 2015. 
 
3. STOCK OPTIONS 
 

The shareholders approved the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”) on July 29, 2013.  The Plan allows for 
various equity-based incentives such as stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, stock grants and qualified 
performance-based awards.  The Plan reserved 150,000 shares of common stock for issuance to Bank employees 
and directors.  The Plan requires that the option exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the stock 
at the date the option is granted. Option awards have vesting periods of 5 years unless otherwise approved by the 
Board of Directors.  The option expiration dates are determined by the Board of Directors, but may not be later than 
ten years from the date of grant. No options were granted during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 
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31, 2015.  As of March 31, 2016, 150,000 shares remain available for future grants under the Plan. There were 
88,516 options outstanding as of March 31, 2016, which includes options granted under prior stock option plans. 
 
4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

 
The Bank is subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business.  In the opinion 

of management, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to such actions will not materially affect the 
consolidated financial condition or results of operations of the Bank. 

 
The Bank's business activity is primarily with clients located within Northern California.  Although the Bank has 

a diversified loan portfolio, a significant portion of its clients' ability to repay loans is dependent upon the real estate 
market and various economic factors within Sonoma County. Generally, loans are secured by various forms of 
collateral. The Bank's loan policy requires sufficient collateral to be obtained as necessary to meet the Bank's 
relative risk criteria for each borrower. The Bank's collateral for the lending portfolio consists primarily of real 
estate, accounts receivable, inventory and other financial instruments.  At March 31, 2016, loans with real estate 
collateral approximate $303,883,000 or 83% of the loan portfolio. 

 
The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business in order 

to meet the financing needs of its clients and to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates.  These 
financial instruments consist of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit.  These instruments 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized on the 
consolidated balance sheets.  The Bank's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party 
for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those 
instruments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and standby letters of credit as it does 
for loans included on the consolidated balance sheet. 

 
Commitments to extend credit, which totaled $43,617,000 and $37,774,000 at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 

2015, are agreements to lend to a client as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract.  
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  
Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do 
not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The Bank evaluates each client's creditworthiness on a case-by-
case basis.  The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of the credit, is 
based on management's credit evaluation of the borrower.  Collateral held relating to these commitments varies, but 
may include securities, equipment, accounts receivable, inventory and deeds of trust on residential real estate and 
owner-occupied or income-producing commercial properties. 

 
 
Standby letters of credit, which totaled $1,981,000 and $1,992,000 at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, 

are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a client to a first party.  The credit 
risk involved in issuing standby letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to clients.  
The fair value of the liability related to these standby letters of credit, which represents the fees received for issuing 
the guarantees, was not significant at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.  The Bank recognizes these fees as 
revenue over the term of the commitment or when the commitment is used. 
 
5.  FAIR VALUE 
 

Accounting standards establish a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels 
of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the 
ability to access as of the measurement date. 
 
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data.  
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Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions about the 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. 
 

The fair values of most securities available for sale are determined by matrix pricing, which is a mathematical 
technique widely used in the industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the 
specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities (Level 2 
inputs).   

 
The fair value of impaired loans that are collateral dependent are generally based on real estate appraisals. These 

appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and 
the income approach. Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the appraisers to adjust for 
differences between the comparable sales and income data available. Such adjustments are usually significant and 
typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value.  

 
Estimated fair values are disclosed for financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate fair value.  

These estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market data and information about the 
financial instruments.  These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering the 
Bank's entire holdings of a particular financial instrument for sale at one time, nor do they attempt to estimate the 
value of anticipated future business related to the instruments.  In addition, the tax ramifications related to the 
realization of unrealized gains and losses can have a significant effect on fair value estimates and have not been 
considered in any of these estimates. 

 
Because no active market exists for a significant portion of the Bank's financial instruments, fair value estimates 

are based on judgments regarding current economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments 
and other factors.  These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant 
judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision.  Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the 
fair values presented. 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank to estimate the fair value of its financial 

instruments at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents:  For cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash, due from banks and federal funds 

sold, the carrying amount is estimated to be fair value. 
 
Time deposits with banks:  Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit with banks are estimated using a 

discounted cash flow analysis using interest rates being offered at each reporting date for certificates with similar 
maturities. 

 
Investment securities:  For investment securities, fair values are based on quoted market prices, where available.  

If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are estimated using quoted market prices for similar securities 
and indications of value provided by brokers.  The carrying amount of accrued interest receivable approximates its 
fair value.   

 
Loans, net of allowance:  For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently with no significant change in credit risk, 

fair values are based on carrying values.  Fair values for other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow 
analyses, using interest rates being offered at each reporting date for loans with similar terms to borrowers of 
comparable creditworthiness (without considering widening credit spreads due to market illiquidity). The allowance 
for loan losses is considered to be a reasonable estimate of discount for credit risk.  The carrying amount of accrued 
interest receivable approximates its fair value. 

 
Federal Home Loan Bank stock:  Federal Home Loan Bank Stock is subject to restrictions on its transferability.  

It is redeemable only by the Federal Home Loan Bank at par value of $100 per share. 
 
Deposits:  The fair values for demand deposits are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the 

reporting date represented by their carrying amount.  Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are estimated 
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using a discounted cash flow analysis using interest rates being offered at each reporting date for certificates with 
similar remaining maturities.  The carrying amount of accrued interest payable approximates its fair value. 

 
Short-term borrowings and long-term debt:  The fair values of fixed rate borrowings are estimated using a 

discounted cash flow analysis that applies interest rates being offered on similar debt instruments.  The fair values of 
variable rate borrowings are based on carrying value.  The carrying amount of accrued interest payable approximates 
its fair value.  

 
Commitments to fund loans/standby letters of credit:  The fair values of commitments are estimated using the fees 

currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements and 
the present creditworthiness of the counterparties.  The differences between the carrying value of commitments to 
fund loans or standby letters of credit and their fair value are not significant and, therefore, are not included in the 
following table. 

 
The following table presents a summary of the carrying value and fair value by level of financial instruments on 

the Bank’s balance sheet at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 
 

(in thousands)
Carrying 
Amount

Fair     
Value

Fair
Value

Hierarchy
Carrying 
Amount

Fair     
Value

Fair
Value

Hierarchy
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 21,127$    21,127$     Level 1 15,583$    15,583$    Level 1
Federal funds sold 2,000        2,000         Level 1 2,000        2,000        Level 1
Time deposits with banks 744           744            Level 2 744           744           Level 2
Investment securities - held-to-maturity 5,989        5,926         Level 2 5,988        5,854        Level 2
Investment securities - available-for-sale 116,966    116,966     Level 2 128,599    128,599    Level 2
Loans, net of allowance 359,553    372,736     Level 3 343,217    349,317    Level 3
Investment in FHLB stock 2,701        2,701         Level 2 2,701        2,701        Level 2
Accrued interest receivable 2,038        2,038         Level 2 2,164        2,164        Level 2

Financial liabilities:
Deposits 407,101$  407,088$   Level 2 397,246$  397,010$  Level 2
FHLB advances 53,800      53,871       Level 2 55,800      55,812      Level 2
Accrued interest payable 62             62              Level 2 48             48             Level 2

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
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Assets Measured on a Recurring Basis 
 

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below: 
 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

March 31, 2016
Assets:

Securities available-for-sale:
   U.S. Treasuries 12,011$                  -$                              12,011$               -$                  
   Government agencies 60,772                    -                                60,772                 -                    
   Mortgage-backed securities - residential 8,199                      -                                8,199                   -                    
   Corporate debt 35,984                    -                                35,984                 -                    
   Municipal securities -                              -                                -                           -                    
      Total securities available-for-sale 116,966$                -$                              116,966$             -$                  

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

December 31, 2015
Assets:

Securities available-for-sale:
   U.S. Treasuries 9,992$                    -$                              9,992$                 -$                  
   Government agencies 73,465                    -                                73,465                 -                    
   Mortgage-backed securities - residential 8,118                      -                                8,118                   -                    
   Corporate debt 37,024                    -                                37,024                 -                    
   Municipal securities -                              -                                -                           -                    
      Total securities available-for-sale 128,599$                -$                              128,599$             -$                  

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015
(In thousands)

 
 
There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or Level 3 during the three months ended March 
31, 2016 or the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
Assets Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis  
 

Assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis are summarized below: 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

March 31, 2016
Assets:

Commercial & agricultural -$                             $                              -  $                        - -$                  
Real estate - commercial 235                                                          -                            - 235                
Real estate  - construction and land -                                                           -                            - -                    
Real estate - single family -                                                           -                            - -                    
Real estate - multifamily -                                                           -                            - -                    
Consumer & lease financing -                                                           -                            - -                    

Impaired loans with specific loss allocations 235$                                                        -                            - 235$              

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

December 31, 2015
Assets:

Commercial & agricultural  $                            -  $                              -  $                        - -$                  
Real estate - commercial                                -                                  -                            - -                    
Real estate  - construction and land                                -                                  -                            - -                    
Real estate - single family                                -                                  -                            - -                    
Real estate - multifamily                                -                                  -                            - -                    
Consumer & lease financing                                -                                  -                            - -                    

Impaired loans with specific loss allocations -$                                                         -                            - -$              

(In thousands)

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015
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The following tables present the valuation techniques covering the majority of Level 3 non-recurring fair value 
measurements and the most significant unobservable inputs used in those measurements as of March 31, 2016 and 
December 31, 2015: 

 
(in thousands)

Weighted
As of March 31, 2016 Fair Value Methodology Input Low High average

Real estate loans 235$             Price-based Appraised value 235$         235$         235$         

Weighted
As of December 31, 2015 Fair Value Methodology Input Low High average

Real estate loans -$              Price-based Appraised value -$         -$         -$         

 
 
Fair value estimates are determined as of a specific point in time utilizing quoted market prices, where available, 

or various assumptions and estimates.  As the assumptions and estimates change, the fair value of the financial 
instruments will change.  The use of assumptions and various techniques, as well as the absence of secondary 
markets for certain financial instruments, will likely reduce the comparability of value disclosures between 
companies. 
 

Impaired collateral-dependent loans are valued at the fair value less estimated disposal costs of collateral.  
Impaired loans with specific loss allocations had a principal balance of $634,000 with a valuation allowance of 
$399,000 at March 31, 2016.  Impaired loans with specific loss allocations had a principal balance of $348,000 with 
a valuation allowance of $348,000 at December 31, 2015. 

 
6.  INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

The amortized costs and estimated fair value of investment securities are reflected in the tables below:  
 

Amortized 
Cost

Gross Unrealized 
Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated Fair 

Value

Held-to-maturity:
Government agencies 5,989$      10$               (73)$         5,926$       

Available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasuries 12,008$    4$                 (1)$           12,011$     
Government agencies 60,048      854               (130)         60,772       
Mortgage-backed securities - residential 8,104        95                 -               8,199         
Corporate debt 34,928      1,224            (168)         35,984       
Municipal securities -                -                    -               -                 
   Total available-for-sale 115,088    2,177            (299)         116,966     

Total investment securities 121,077$  2,187$          (372)$       122,892$   

Amortized 
Cost

Gross Unrealized 
Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated Fair 

Value

Held-to-maturity:
Government agencies 5,988$      6$                 (140)$       5,854$       

Available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasuries 10,005$    -$                  (13)$         9,992$       
Government agencies 73,312      760               (607)         73,465       
Mortgage-backed securities - residential 8,163        23                 (68)           8,118         
Corporate debt 36,255      1,049            (280)         37,024       
Municipal securities -                -                    -               -                 
   Total available-for-sale 127,735    1,832            (968)         128,599     

Total investment securities 133,723$  1,838$          (1,108)$    134,453$   

(in thousands)

March 31, 2016

(in thousands)

December 31, 2015
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The activity related to recorded gross gains and losses of investment securities is reflected in the table below:  
 

(in thousands) March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Proceeds from sales -$                             -$                             

Proceeds from calls 4,324                       -                               

Gross realized gains on sales and calls 133                          -                               

Gross realized losses on sales and calls -                               -                               

Three Months Ended

 
 

There were 16 investment securities in a continuous unrealized loss position greater than 12 months at March 31, 
2016.  At March 31, 2016, the Bank held 25 investment securities which were in an unrealized loss position for less 
than twelve months.  The interest rate volatility during the year resulted in many investment securities ending the 
period in an unrealized loss position.  Management periodically evaluates each investment security for other-than-
temporary impairment (OTTI), relying primarily on industry analyst reports and observation of market conditions 
and interest rate fluctuations. All of the impairment appearing in the investment securities portfolio valuations is 
considered to be temporary. The measured impairment in the securities values is primarily attributable to changes in 
short term interest rates, market shifts of the Treasury yield curve and other variable market and economic 
conditions. The measured impairment in securities values did not result from any significant or persistent 
deterioration in the underlying credit quality of any of the investments. The securities portfolio consists primarily of 
debt securities with non-contingent contractual cash flows. Full realization of the principal balance is expected upon 
final maturity. Management has the intent and ability to hold the securities until recovery of the carrying value, 
which could be at the final maturity.  There were no OTTI recorded in 2016 or 2015. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 18 

Investment securities with unrealized losses are summarized and classified according to the duration of the loss 
period as follows: 

 

(in thousands) Fair Value
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Unrealized 

Losses

Debt securities:
   Held-to-maturity:
      Government agencies -$               -$              1,927$    (73)$              1,927$    (73)$            

   Available-for-sale:

      U.S. Treasuries 2,004$       (1)$            -$            -$                  2,004$    (1)$              
      Government agencies 10,876       (130)          -          -                10,876    (130)            
      Mortgage-backed securities - residential -                 -                -              -                    -              -              
      Corporate debt 3,927         (93)            1,208      (75)                5,135      (168)            
      Municipal securities -                 -                -              -                    -              -                  
         Total available-for-sale 16,807       (224)          1,208      (75)                18,015    (299)            
            Total investment securities 16,807$     (224)$        3,135$    (148)$            19,942$  (372)$          

(in thousands) Fair Value
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Unrealized 

Losses

Debt securities:
   Held-to-maturity:
      Government agencies 980$          (8)$            1,868$    (132)$            2,848$    (140)$          

   Available-for-sale:

      U.S. Treasuries 9,992$       (13)$          -$            -$                  9,992$    (13)$            
      Government agencies 31,661       (410)          7,307      (197)              38,968    (607)            
      Mortgage-backed securities - residential 7,075         (68)            -              -                    7,075      (68)              
      Corporate debt 5,018         (186)          2,196      (94)                7,214      (280)            
      Municipal securities -                 -                -              -                    -              -              
         Total available-for-sale 53,746       (677)          9,503      (291)              63,249    (968)            
            Total investment securities 54,726$     (685)$        11,371$  (423)$            66,097$  (1,108)$       

March 31, 2016

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

December 31, 2015

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities at March 31, 2016 by contractual maturity 

are shown below.  Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities 
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. 

 
 

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value

Within one year -$                          -$              9,782$                   9,800$      
After one year through five years -                            -                38,174                   39,139      
After five years through ten years -                            -                52,059                   52,847      
After ten years 5,989                     5,926        6,969                     6,981        

5,989                     5,926        106,984                 108,767    
Investment securities not due at a single maturity date:
   Mortgage-backed securities - residential -                            -                8,104                     8,199        

5,989$                   5,926$      115,088$               116,966$  

Available-for-SaleHeld to Maturity
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7.  LOANS 
 

Outstanding loans are summarized as follows: 
 

March 31, December 31,
(in thousands) 2015 2015

Commercial & agricultural 80,398$        75,018$          
Real estate  - commercial 188,578        175,374          
Real estate  - construction and land 11,992          11,341            
Real estate - single family 61,043          63,899            
Real estate - multifamily 21,726          21,664            
Consumer & lease financing 551               652                 

364,288        347,948          
Allowance for loan losses (4,735)           (4,731)            

359,553$      343,217$        
 

 
 

Changes in the allocation of allowance for loan losses by loan class for the three months ended March 31, 2016 
and 2015 are as follows:  
 

 
(in thousands) Three Months Ended March 31, 2016

Balance at
December 31, 2015

Provision 
(reversal) Charge-offs Recoveries

Balance at
March 31, 2016

Commercial & agricultural 1,008$                           61$                -$                  -$                       1,069$                        

Real estate - commercial 940                                387                -                    -                         1,327                          

Real estate  - construction and land 57                                  3                    -                    -                         60                               

Real estate - single family 237                                (4)                   -                    2                        235                             

Real estate - multifamily 43                                  44                  -                    -                         87                               

Consumer & lease financing 6                                    (3)                   -                    2                        5                                 

Unallocated 2,440                             (488)               -                    -                         1,952                          

Total 4,731$                           -$               -$              4$                      4,735$                        

 
 
 
(in thousands) Three Months Ended March 31, 2015

Balance at
December 31, 2014

Provision 
(reversal) Charge-offs Recoveries

Balance at
March 31, 2015

Commercial & agricultural 534$                              148$              -$                  -$                        $                           682 

Real estate - commercial 1,861                             (661)               -                    -                                                    1,200 

Real estate  - construction and land 216                                (26)                 -                    -                                                       190 

Real estate - single family 141                                30                  -                    125                                                  296 

Real estate - multifamily 13                                  1                    -                    -                                                         14 

Consumer & lease financing 10                                  (9)                   (1)                  3                                                          3 

Unallocated 2,368                             517                -                    -                                                    2,885 

5,143$                           -$               (1)$                128$                  5,270$                        Total
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The following table presents the balance in the allowance for loan losses and loan balances by class and based on 
impairment method as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 
 

 

(in thousands)

Collectively 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Total Ending 
Allowance Balance

Loans Individually 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Loans Collectively 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Total Ending 
Loans Balance

Commercial & agricultural 345$                 724                    1,069$                     1,844$                 78,554$                         80,398$             

Real estate - commercial 54                     1,273                 1,327                       2,901                   185,677                         188,578             

Real estate - construction and land -                        60                      60                            -                           11,992                           11,992               

Real estate - single family -                        235                    235                          1,417                   59,626                           61,043               

Real estate - multifamily -                        87                      87                            165                      21,561                           21,726               

Consumer & lease financing -                        5                        5                              -                           551                                551                    

Unallocated -                        1,952                 1,952                       -                           -                                     -                         

Total 399$                 4,336$               4,735$                     6,327$                 357,961$                       364,288$           

(in thousands)

Collectively 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Total Ending 
Allowance Balance

Loans Individually 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Loans Collectively 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Total Ending 
Loans Balance

Commercial & agricultural 348$                 660$                  1,008$                     1,228$                 73,790$                         75,018$             

Real estate - commercial -                        940                    940                          2,654                   172,720                         175,374             

Real estate - construction and land -                        57                      57                            -                           11,341                           11,341               

Real estate - single family -                        237                    237                          1,442                   62,457                           63,899               

Real estate - multifamily -                        43                      43                            170                      21,494                           21,664               

Consumer & lease financing -                        6                        6                              -                           652                                652                    

Unallocated -                        2,440                 2,440                       -                           -                                     -                         

Total 348$                 4,383$               4,731$                     5,494$                 342,454$                       347,948$           

Individually 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Individually 
Evaluated for 
Impairment

Allowance for Loan Losses Loans

March 31, 2016

Allowance for Loan Losses Loans

December 31, 2015

 
 

The unallocated allowance represents temporary changes in allocations resulting from changes in loan volumes, 
types and quality, as well as other factors. Management assesses the unallocated amount to determine if the amount 
is due to other than temporary changes in these factors.  The unallocated allowance relates to the trend in impaired 
and classified loans, the projected increase in new loans and additional allowance that may be attributed to 
recoveries of previously charged-off loans. 

 
The recorded investment in the aforementioned disclosure and the next several disclosures do not include 

accrued interest receivable and net deferred fees because such amounts are not considered material.  Accrued 
interest receivable for the total loan portfolio was $1,207,000 and $1,193,000 and net deferred loan (costs) fees was 
$(19,000) and $29,000 as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. 
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The following table presents impaired loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans: 
 

(in thousands)

Commercial 
& 

agricultural
Real estate - 
commercial

Real estate - 
construction 

and land
Real estate - 
single family

Real estate - 
multifamily

Consumer & 
lease financing Total

March 31, 2016

Recorded investment in impaired loans:

With no related allowance recorded 1,499$         2,612$         -$              1,417$          165$              -$                  5,693$      

With an allowance recorded 345              289              -                -                -                 -                    634           
Total recorded investment in
impaired loans 1,844$         2,901$         -$              1,417$          165$              -$                  6,327$      

Unpaid principal balance of impaired loans:

With no related allowance recorded 1,526$         2,612$         -$              1,417$          165$              -$                  5,720$      

With an allowance recorded 345              289              -                -                -                 -                    634           
Total unpaid principal balance of
impaired loans 1,871$         2,901$         -$              1,417$          165$              -$                  6,354$      

Allowance for loan losses allocation 345$            54$              -$              -$              -$               -$                  399$         

1,443           2,724           -                1,419            167                -                    5,753        

11                45                -                13                 -                 -                    69             

December 31, 2015

Recorded investment in impaired loans:

With no related allowance recorded 880$            2,654$         -$              1,442$          170$              -$                  5,146$      

With an allowance recorded 348              -               -                -                -                 -                    348           
Total recorded investment in
impaired loans 1,228$         2,654$         -$              1,442$          170$              -$                  5,494$      

Unpaid principal balance of impaired loans:

With no related allowance recorded 880$            2,654$         -$              1,470$          170$              -$                  5,174$      

With an allowance recorded 348              -               -                -                -                 -                    348           
Total unpaid principal balance of
impaired loans 1,228$         2,654$         -$              1,470$          170$              -$                  5,522$      

Allowance for loan losses allocation 348$            -$             -$              -$              -$               -$                  348$         

March 31, 2015

Allowance for loan losses allocation 384$            422$            -$              -$              -$               -$                  806$         

1,337           9,907           16                  2,386            187                -                    13,833      

12                105              1                    21                 -                 -                    139           

Average recorded investment in impaired loans
during the quarter ended March 31, 2016

Interest income recognized on impaired loans
during the quarter ended March 31, 2016

Average recorded investment in impaired loans
during the quarter ended March 31, 2015

Interest income recognized on impaired loans
during the quarter ended March 31, 2015
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The following table presents the recorded investment in nonaccrual loans and loans past due over 90 days still 
accruing by class of loans as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 

 
 

(in thousands) Nonaccrual

Loans Past Due 
Over 90 Days 
Still Accruing Nonaccrual

Loans Past Due 
Over 90 Days 
Still Accruing

Commercial & agricultural 980$          -$                    350$         -$                      
Real estate - commercial 772            -                      494           -                        
Real estate - construction and land -                 -                      -               -                        
Real estate - single family 574            199                 596           -                        
Real estate - multifamily 165            -                      170           -                        
Consumer & lease financing -                 -                      -               -                        
    Total 2,491$       199$               1,610$      -$                      

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

 
 
The following table presents the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans, inclusive of nonaccrual 

loans, as of March 31, 2016 by class of loans: 
 

 

(in thousands) 30 - 59 60 - 89 Greater Than
Days Days 90 Days Total Loans Not

Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Total

Commercial & agricultural -$             -$             115$            115$         80,283$       80,398$      
Real estate - commercial 289           -               219              508           188,070       188,578      
Real estate - construction and land -               -               -                   -               11,992         11,992        
Real estate - single family -               -               670              670           60,373         61,043        
Real estate - multifamily 165           -               -                   165           21,561         21,726        
Consumer & lease financing -               -               -                   -               551              551             

  Total 454$         -$         1,004$         1,458$      362,830$     364,288$    

 
 

The following table presents the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans, inclusive of nonaccrual 
loans, as of December 31, 2015 by class of loans: 
 
(in thousands) 30 - 59 60 - 89 Greater Than

Days Days 90 Days Total Loans Not
Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Total

Commercial & agricultural -$             -$             -$                 -$             75,018$       75,018$      
Real estate - commercial -               -               222              222           175,152       175,374      
Real estate - construction and land -               -               -                   -               11,341         11,341        
Real estate - single family 49             248           -                   297           63,602         63,899        
Real estate - multifamily 170           -               -                   170           21,494         21,664        
Consumer & lease financing -               -               -                   -               652              652             

  Total 219$         248$         222$            689$         347,259$     347,948$    

 
 

A loan is considered past due if a scheduled payment of interest or principal that is due is unpaid for 30 days or 
more. 
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Troubled Debt Restructurings 
 

From time to time, the Bank may agree to modify the contractual terms of a borrower’s loan.  In cases where 
such modifications represent a concession to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, the modification is 
considered a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”).  At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, loans modified in a 
TDR totaled $3,817,000 and $3,863,000 which are included in the impaired loan disclosures above. The total TDRs 
includes $326,000 and $327,000 that are also included in nonperforming loans at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 
2015. TDRs had specific loss allocations of $0, $0 and $77,000 as of March 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and 
March 31, 2015. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no loans modified as troubled debt 

restructurings.  There were no loans modified as troubled debt restructurings for which there was a payment default 
within twelve months following the modification during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.  A loan 
is considered to be in payment default once it is 90 days contractually past due under the modified terms.  
 

In order to determine whether a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, an evaluation is performed of the 
probability that the borrower will be in payment default on any of its debt in the foreseeable future without the 
modification. This evaluation is performed under the Bank’s internal underwriting policy. 
 
Credit Quality Indicators 
 

The Bank categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to 
service their debt such as:  current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, 
public information, and current economic trends, among other factors.  The Bank analyzes loans individually by 
classifying the loans as to credit risk.  This analysis is performed on a quarterly basis for loans in excess of 
$250,000.  Smaller balances are graded at origination and updated based on payment status and other information 
obtained from borrowers.  The Bank uses the following definitions for risk ratings: 
 

PASS - Loans not meeting any of the three criteria below that are analyzed individually as part of the above 
described process are considered to be pass rated loans.   
 

SPECIAL MENTION - Loans in this category are considered "criticized" from a regulatory point of view but 
are not considered "classified" until the risk classification becomes substandard or worse. Loans in this category 
represent above average risk and potential weakness which may, if not corrected, weaken the loan and threaten 
repayment at some future date.  
 

SUBSTANDARD - Loans in this category have well defined weakness that jeopardize full repayment of the 
debt, although loss may not seem likely. Loss potential does not have to exist in individual loans in the Substandard 
classification, but will be apparent in the aggregate. Typically, these loans have not met repayment plans as agreed.  
The primary source of repayment may have failed to materialize; repayment may be dependent on collateral 
liquidation or other secondary sources. Bankrupt borrowers and those with continuously past due payments are 
considered substandard.   
 

DOUBTFUL - Loans in this category have all the characteristics of substandard loans with the added weakness 
that payment in full or liquidation in full is highly questionable and improbable. The possibility of loss is extremely 
high, but because of certain important and reasonably specific pending factors, which may work to the strengthening 
of the loan, its classification as an estimated loss is deferred until the amount of the loss may be more accurately 
determined.  
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Based on recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class of loans as of March 31, 2016 is as 
follows: 
 

Special 
(in thousands) Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Not Rated Total

Commercial & agricultural 75,042$     1,915$           3,441$         -$             -$             80,398$    
Real estate - commercial 177,509     2,951             8,118           -               -               188,578    
Real estate - construction and land 11,992       -                     -                   -               -               11,992      
Real estate - single family 59,808       -                     1,235           -               -               61,043      
Real estate - multifamily 20,928       -                     798              -               -               21,726      
Consumer & lease financing 551            -                     -                   -               -               551           

    Total 345,830$   4,866$           13,592$       -$             -$             364,288$  

 
 

Based on recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class of loans as of December 31, 2015 is as 
follows: 
 

Special 
(in thousands) Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Not Rated Total

Commercial & agricultural 69,601$     1,960$           3,457$         -$             -$             75,018$    
Real estate - commercial 166,819     1,700             6,855           -               -               175,374    
Real estate - construction and land 11,341       -                     -                   -               -               11,341      
Real estate - single family 62,540       212                1,147           -               -               63,899      
Real estate - multifamily 20,857       -                     807              -               -               21,664      
Consumer & lease financing 652            -                     -                   -               -               652           

    Total 331,810$   3,872$           12,266$       -$         -$         347,948$  

 
8.  OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED 
 

Other real estate owned (OREO) at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was $0.  There were no sales during 
the three months ended March 31, 2016.  There was one sale with a book value of $4,051,000 during the three 
months ended March 31, 2015, resulting in a net gain of $1,125,000.  There were no sales during the three months 
ended March 31, 2015.  Rental income, net of operating expenses on OREO, was $0 for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 and was $62,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015. 
 
9.  FHLB ADVANCES 
 

The Bank adjusts its level of FHLB advances to manage balance sheet liquidity.  Below are the advances 
outstanding at March 31, 2016. 
 

Maturity
Amount

(in thousands) Rate
4/1/2016 22,800             0.48%

4/14/2016 6,000               0.50%
6/27/2016 5,000               1.05%
1/30/2017 5,000               0.76%

2/1/2018 15,000             1.00%
53,800$           
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10.  ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

All changes in accumulated other comprehensive income are due to unrealized gains and losses on available-for-
sale securities.   
 

The following table presents activity in accumulated other comprehensive income for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016: 
 
(in thousands)
Accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2015 501$                           

Comprehensive income three months ended March 31, 2016 492                             

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of March 31, 2016 993$                           

 
 

The following table presents activity in accumulated other comprehensive income for the three months ended 
March 31, 2015: 

 
(in thousands)
Accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2014 708$                           

Comprehensive income three months ended March 31, 2015 805                             

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of March 31, 2015 1,513$                        

 
 
11.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
Dividend 

 
On April 26, 2016, the Board of Directors declared a $0.12 per common share cash dividend to shareholders of 

record at the close of business on May 18, 2016, to be paid on May 24, 2016. 
 
Departure of Principal Executive Officer 

 
As reported on Form 8-K filed April 22, 2016, the Bank’s President and Chief Executive Officer resigned on 

April 18, 2016. In connection with his resignation, the former President and the Company entered into a separation 
agreement (the “Severance Agreement”) effective April 18, 2016. The Severance Agreement was amended on April 
25, 2016, to change the terms as follows: (a)  severance payments were increased from 12 to 18 months of salary, 
for total payments of $427,500; (b) payment or reimbursement of COBRA premiums estimated at $1,830 per month 
was increased from 12 to 18 months subject to him becoming eligible for health insurance at the expense of another 
employer before the end of such period; (c) all of his outstanding stock options became vested and exercisable under 
the terms of the option agreements; and (d) the Change in Control Agreement between Company and him was 
terminated. The Bank will accrue the estimated expense of the Severance Agreement in the second quarter of 2016. 
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Item 2 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
The following discussion provides additional information about the financial condition of the Bank at March 31, 

2016 and December 31, 2015, and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. The 
following analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Bank and the 
notes thereto appearing elsewhere in the report, which were prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles.  The interim financial information provided as of and for the three months ended March 31, 
2016 and 2015 are unaudited.  In the opinion of management of the Bank, the interim financial information 
presented reflects all adjustments (consisting solely of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair 
representation of the results of such periods. 

All references to yields, cost of liabilities and net interest margin are annualized for the periods discussed.   
 

Forward Looking Statements.  This discussion includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the 
“safe harbor” provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are based on the current beliefs of the Bank management as well 
as assumptions made by and information currently available to the Bank’s management. When used in this 
discussion, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “should,” “intend,” “project,” “may,” “will,” 
“would,” variations of such words and words or phrases of similar meaning constitute forward-looking statements. 
Although the Bank believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can 
give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been correct. 

These forward-looking statements relate to, among other things, expectations regarding the business environment 
in which the Bank operates, projections of future performance, potential future performance, potential future credit 
experience, perceived opportunities in the market, and statements regarding the Bank’s mission and vision. Factors 
which may cause actual results to vary from forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, changes in 
interest rates, general economic and business conditions, changes in business strategy or development plans, changes 
in credit quality, the availability of capital to fund the expansion of our business, legislative and regulatory changes, 
government monetary and fiscal policies, real estate valuations, competition in the financial services industry, 
demographic changes, civil disturbances or terrorist threats or acts, or apprehension about the possible future 
occurrences of acts of this type, outbreak or escalation of hostilities in which the United States is involved, any 
declaration of war by the U.S. Congress or any other national or international calamity, crisis or emergency, and 
other risks referenced in this discussion. 

This discussion contains certain forward-looking information about us. All statements other than statements of 
historical fact are forward-looking statements. Such statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, many of 
which are difficult to predict and are generally beyond our control. We caution readers that a number of important 
factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, implied or projected by, such forward-
looking statements. Risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: 

 

 lower revenues than expected; 

 credit quality deterioration which could cause an increase in the provision for credit losses; 

 competitive pressure among depository institutions increases significantly; 

 the cost of additional capital is more than expected; 

 a change in the interest rate environment reduces interest margins; 

 asset/liability repricing risks and liquidity risks; 

 legislative or regulatory requirements or changes adversely affecting our business; 

 changes in the securities markets; 

 general economic conditions, either nationally or in the market areas in which we do or anticipate doing 
business, are less favorable than expected; 

 potential weakness of real estate collateral values; 
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 the economic and regulatory effects of the continuing war on terrorism and other events of war, 
including the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan; 

 our ability to complete any future acquisitions, to successfully integrate acquired entities, or to achieve 
expected synergies and operating efficiencies within expected time-frames or at all; 

 the integration of any future acquired businesses costs more, takes longer or is less successful than 
expected; and 

 regulatory approvals for announced or future acquisitions cannot be obtained on the terms expected or 
on the anticipated schedule. 

Also, other important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Bank’s expectations are 
disclosed under Item 1A. “RISK FACTORS,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K on file with the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and below under this “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – Critical Accounting Policies” and elsewhere in 
this report. 

If any of these risks or uncertainties materializes, or if any of the assumptions underlying such forward-looking 
statements proves to be incorrect, our results could differ materially from those expressed in, implied or projected 
by, such forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update such forward-looking statements. 

We caution that these statements are further qualified by important factors, in addition to those under “Risk 
Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this report, which could cause actual results to differ 
significantly from those in the forward-looking statements, including, among other things, economic conditions and 
other risks. 

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. By their nature, they involve risks, uncertainties 
and assumptions. Our future results and shareholder values may differ significantly from those expressed in these 
forward-looking statements. You are cautioned not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. Any 
such statement speaks only as of the date of this discussion, regardless of the time of delivery of this document. We 
do not undertake any obligation to update or release any revisions to any forward-looking statements, to report any 
new information, future event or other circumstances after the date of this filing or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events, except as required by law. However, your attention is directed to any further disclosures made 
on related subjects in any subsequent reports we may file with the  FDIC, including on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. 

 
Government and Regulatory Oversight.  The Bank is subject to regulatory oversight by the Department of 

Business Oversight (DBO) from the state of California and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). 
These regulatory bodies periodically perform financial examinations of the Bank.  There is a potential that an 
examination may derive different estimates than those reached by management and could require material 
adjustments or restatements.  

 
Critical Accounting Policies.  The discussion and analysis of the Bank’s results of operations and financial 

condition are based upon financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Bank’s 
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expense, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these financial statements. 

The Bank believes these estimates and assumptions to be reasonably accurate; however, actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions or circumstances. Material estimates that are particularly 
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses, 
consideration of goodwill impairment, valuation of other real estate owned, and consideration of potential other than 
temporary impairment on investment securities.  

 
Allowance for Loan Losses.  The allowance for loan losses is determined first and foremost by promptly 

identifying potential credit weaknesses that could jeopardize repayment.  The Bank’s process for evaluating the 
adequacy of the allowance for loan losses includes determining estimated loss percentages for each credit based on 
the Bank’s historical loss experience and other factors in the Bank’s credit grading system and accompanying risk 
analysis for determining an adequate level of the allowance. The risks are assessed by rating each account based 
upon paying habits, loan to collateral value ratio, financial condition and level of classifications. The allowance for 
loan losses was $4,735,000 at March 31, 2016 compared to $4,731,000 at December 31, 2015. 
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The Bank maintains the allowance for loan losses to provide for probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio. 
Additions to the allowance for loan losses are established through a provision charged to expense. All loans which 
are judged to be uncollectible are charged against the allowance while any recoveries are credited to the allowance. 
The Bank’s policy is to charge off any known losses at the time of determination. Any unsecured loan more than 
90 days delinquent in payment of principal or interest and not in the process of collection is charged off in total. 
Secured loans are evaluated on a case by case basis to determine the ultimate loss potential to us subsequent to the 
liquidation of collateral. In those cases where we believe we are inadequately protected, a charge-off will generally 
be made to reduce the loan balance to a level equal to the liquidation value of the collateral unless we believe the 
collateral deficiency may be overcome by borrower cash flows. 

The Bank’s loan policy provides procedures designed to evaluate and assess the credit risk factors associated with 
the loan portfolio, to enable the Bank to assess such credit risk factors prior to granting new loans and to evaluate 
the sufficiency of the allowance for loan losses. The Bank conducts an assessment of the allowance on a monthly 
basis and undertakes a more critical evaluation quarterly. At the time of the quarterly review, the Board of Directors 
will examine and formally approve the adequacy of the allowance. The quarterly evaluation includes an assessment 
of the following factors: any external loan review and any recent regulatory examination, estimated potential loss 
exposure on each pool of loans, concentrations of credit, value of collateral, the level of delinquent and nonaccrual 
loans, trends in loan volume, effects of any changes in lending policies and procedures, changes in lending 
personnel, current economic conditions at the local, state and national level and historical losses and recoveries. 
 

Goodwill.  We assess the carrying value of our goodwill at least annually in order to determine if this intangible 
asset is impaired.  In reviewing the carrying value of our goodwill, we assess the recoverability of such assets by 
evaluating the fair value of the related business unit.  If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value, an 
impairment loss is recognized for the amount of the excess and the carrying value of goodwill is reduced 
accordingly.  Any impairment would be required to be recorded during the period identified.   

Accounting standards require an annual evaluation of goodwill for impairment using various estimates and 
assumptions. The market price of the Bank’s common stock at the close of business on March 31, 2016 was $13.25 
per common share compared to a book value of $12.22 per common share. 
 

Investment Securities. We assess at each reporting date whether there is an “other-than-temporary” impairment 
to our investment securities.  Such impairment, if related to credit losses, must be recognized in current earnings 
rather than in other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax.  We examine all individual securities that are in an 
unrealized loss position at each reporting date for other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI). Specific investment 
level factors we examine to assess impairment include, the severity and duration of the unrealized loss, the nature, 
financial condition and results of operations of the issuers of the securities and whether there has been any cause for 
default on the securities or any adverse change in the rating of the securities by the various rating agencies, as well 
as whether the decline in value is credit or liquidity related.   Additionally, we reexamine our financial resources and 
our overall intent and ability to hold the securities until their fair values recover. There were no OTTI recorded in 
2016 or 2015.  Investment securities are discussed in more detail under “Investment Portfolio.” 
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 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Statement of Income Data:

Net interest income 4,703$                            4,155$                            

Provision for loan losses -                                      -                                      

Non-interest income 454                                 1,543                              

Non-interest expense 2,898                              2,768                              

Provision for income taxes 931                                 1,208                              

Net income 1,328$                            1,722$                            

Less: preferred dividends -                                      34                                   

Net income available for common shareholders 1,328$                            1,688$                            

Selected per Common Share Data:

Basic earnings per common share 0.28$                              0.35$                              

Diluted earnings per common share 0.27$                              0.35$                              

Dividend per share 0.12$                              0.12$                              

Book value per common share (2)(3) 12.22$                            11.68$                            

Selected Balance Sheet Data: 

Assets 522,182$                        474,375$                        

Loans, net 359,553                          292,277                          

Deposits 407,101                          366,212                          

Average assets 522,255                          463,475                          

Average earning assets 513,647                          449,989                          

Average shareholders' equity 58,140                            67,890                            

Average common shareholders' equity 58,140                            54,224                            

Nonperforming loans 2,690                              1,631                              

Other real estate owned -                                  -                                  

Total nonperforming assets 2,690                              1,631                              

Troubled debt restructures (accruing) 3,491                              3,562                              

Selected Ratios:

Return on average assets (1) 1.02% 1.51%

Return on average common equity (1) 9.19% 12.62%

Efficiency ratio (4) 57.68% 48.58%

Net interest margin (1) 3.68% 3.75%

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio 13.1% 14.3%

Tier 1 capital ratio 13.1% 18.2%

Total capital ratio 14.3% 19.4%

Tier 1 leverage ratio 10.3% 13.9%

Common dividend payout ratio (5) 43.22% 34.00%

Average equity to average assets 11.13% 14.65%

Nonperforming loans to total loans (2) 0.74% 0.55%

Nonperforming assets to total assets (2) 0.52% 0.34%

Allowance for loan losses to total loans (2) 1.30% 1.77%

Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans (2) 176.02% 323.16%

Three Months Ended

(3) Total shareholders' equity, less preferred stock, divided by total common shares outstanding

(4) Non-interest expenses to net interest and non-interest income, net of securities gains

(2) As of period end

(1) Annualized

(5) Common dividends divided by net income available for common shareholders

Financial Summary
(In thousands except per share data)

At or for the
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Results of Operations 
 

Three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 
 
The Bank’s primary source of income is net interest income, which is the difference between interest income and 

fees derived from earning assets and interest paid on liabilities which fund those assets. Net interest income, 
expressed as a percentage of total average interest earning assets, is referred to as the net interest margin. The 
Bank’s net interest income is affected by changes in the volume and mix of interest earning assets and interest 
bearing liabilities. It is also affected by changes in yields earned on interest earning assets and rates paid on interest 
bearing deposits and other borrowed funds. The Bank also generates non-interest income, including transactional 
fees, service charges, office lease income, gains and losses on investment securities and gains on sold SBA 
guaranteed loans originated by the Bank. Non-interest expenses consist primarily of employee compensation and 
benefits, occupancy and equipment expenses and other operating expenses. The Bank’s results of operations are also 
affected by its provision for loan losses. Results of operations may also be significantly affected by other factors 
including general economic and competitive conditions, mergers and acquisitions of other financial institutions 
within the Bank’s market area, changes in market interest rates, government policies, and actions of regulatory 
agencies. 
 
Net Income 
 

The Bank reports “net income” which reflects the results of its operations for the periods and “net income 
available for common shareholders” which is net income less preferred stock dividends declared during the periods. 

For the three months ended March 31, 2016, net income and net income available for common shareholders was 
$1,328,000, compared to net income of $1,722,000 and net income available for common shareholders of 
$1,688,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015.  Earnings per diluted common share were $0.27 for the 
three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to $0.35 for the three months ended March 31, 2015.  Annualized 
return on average assets was 1.02% for the first quarter of 2016 compared to 1.51% for the first quarter of 2015. 
 
Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin 
 

Net interest income increased $548,000 or 13.2% to $4,703,000 for the first quarter of 2016 compared to 
$4,155,000 for the same quarter of 2015.  The annualized net interest margin declined to 3.68% for the first quarter 
of 2016, compared to 3.75% for the first quarter of 2015. 

Average earning assets increased 14.1% to $513,647,000 for the first quarter of 2016, as compared to 
$449,989,000 for the same quarter of 2015. The annualized yield on average earning assets was 3.94% and the 
annualized cost of average interest-bearing liabilities was 0.37% for the first quarter of 2016, as compared to the 
annualized yield on average earning assets of 3.95% and annualized cost of interest-bearing liabilities of 0.28% for 
the same quarter of 2015. 

The net interest margin declined as a result of increased levels of interest rates paid on FHLB advances and time 
deposits that are tied to short-term U.S. Treasury bond rates.  These rates have increased due to the increased 
changes in target interest rates set by the Federal Reserve. 

The following table presents condensed average balance sheet information for the Bank, together with interest 
rates earned and paid on the various sources and uses of its funds for each of the periods presented. Average 
balances are based on daily average balances. Nonaccrual loans are included in loans with any interest collected 
reflected on a cash basis. 
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(Dollars in thousands)
Average 
Balance

Interest 
Income/ 
Expense Average Rate (4)

Average 
Balance

Interest 
Income/ 
Expense Average Rate (4)

Assets
Interest earning assets:

Interest-bearing deposits in banks 17,160$       18$             0.44% 19,045$         10$             0.21%

Federal funds sold 1,975           2                 0.37% 1,876             1                 0.15%
Time deposits with banks 744              3                 1.57% 1,240             4                 1.38%
Taxable investment securities 132,643       900             2.73% 142,182         990             2.82%
Loans, net of unearned income (1) 361,125       4,111          4.58% 285,646         3,373          4.79%

Total earning assets/interest income 513,647       5,034          3.94% 449,989         4,378          3.95%
Non-earning assets 13,341         18,641           
Allowance for loan losses (4,733)          (5,155)           
Total assets 522,255$     463,475$       

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:

Deposits:   
    Interest-bearing demand deposits 57,454$       19$             0.13% 60,252$         12$             0.08%
    Savings and money market 86,857         27               0.12% 87,320           39               0.18%
    Time deposits 156,755       193             0.49% 135,656         128             0.38%
FHLB advances 62,505         92               0.59% 39,277           44               0.46%

Total interest-bearing liabilities/interest expense 363,571       331             0.37% 322,505         223             0.28%
Non interest-bearing deposits 99,232         71,941           
Other liabilities 1,312           1,139             

    Total liabilities 464,115       395,585         
Shareholders' equity 58,140         67,890           
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 522,255$     463,475$       

Net interest income and margin (2) 4,703$        3.68% 4,155$        3.75%

Net interest spread (3) 3.57% 3.67%

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

 
 

(1)  The net amortization of deferred fees and costs on loans included in interest income was $(25,000) and $(12,000) for the three 
months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

(2)  Net interest margin is computed by dividing net interest income by average total earning assets.  
(3)  Net interest spread is the difference between the average rate earned on average total earning assets and the average rate paid 

on average total interest bearing liabilities.  
(4)  Annualized. 
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The following table shows the change in interest income and interest expense and the amount of change 
attributable to variances in volume and rates. The unallocated change in rate or volume variance has been allocated 
between the rate and volume variances in proportion to the absolute dollar amount of the change of each. 

 
 
Volume and Yield/Rate Variances

(Dollars in thousands) Net Volume Yield/Rate

Interest income:

Interest-bearing deposits in banks 8$                   (1)$                  9$                   
Federal funds sold 1                            -                            1                            

Time deposits with banks (1)                          (1)                          -                            

Taxable investment securities (90)                        (68)                        (22)                        

Loans, net 738                        863                        (125)                      

Total interest income 656                        793                        (137)                      

Interest expense:

Interest-bearing demand deposits 7$                          (1)                          8                            

Savings and money market (12)                        -                            (12)                        

Time deposits 65                          22                          43                          

FHLB advances 48                          31                          17                          

Total interest expense 108                        52                          56                          

Increase (decrease) in net

    interest income 548$                      741$                      (193)$                    

Change Due to

2016 Compared to 2015 for the Three Months Ended
March 31

 
 
 

Provision for Loan Losses 
 

The Bank maintains an allowance for loan losses for probable incurred losses that are expected as an incidental 
part of the banking business. Write-offs of loans are charged against the allowance for loan losses, which is adjusted 
periodically to reflect changes in the volume of outstanding loans and estimated losses due to changes in the 
financial condition of borrowers or the value of property securing nonperforming loans, or changes in general 
economic conditions and other qualitative factors. Additions to the allowance for loan losses are made through a 
charge against income referred to as the “provision for loan losses”. 

The Bank’s loan policy provides procedures designed to evaluate and assess the credit risk factors associated with 
the loan portfolio, to enable management to assess such credit risk factors prior to granting new loans and to 
evaluate the sufficiency of the allowance for loan losses. Management conducts an assessment of the allowance for 
loan losses on a monthly basis and undertakes a more critical evaluation quarterly. At the time of the quarterly 
review, the Board of Directors evaluates and formally approves the adequacy of the allowance. The quarterly 
evaluation includes an assessment of the following factors: any external loan review and regulatory examination, 
estimated probable loss exposure on each pool of loans, concentrations of credit, value of collateral, the level of 
delinquent and nonaccrual loans, trends in loan volume, effects of any changes in the lending policies and 
procedures, changes in lending personnel, current economic conditions at the local, state and national level, and a 
migration analysis of historical losses and recoveries for the prior twelve quarters. 

There was no provision for loan losses for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015.  The 
Bank has experienced net loan recoveries, which increased the allowance for loan losses in 2014 to present.  The 
Bank reduced the excess allowance balances through provision reversals in 2014 and 2015.  The nonperforming 
loans to total loans ratio increased to 0.74% at March 31, 2016 compared to 0.55% at March 31, 2015.  During the 
three months ended March 31, 2016, there were no loan charge-offs compared to $1,000 in loan charge-offs for the 
three months ended March 31, 2015. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, there were $4,000 in loan 
recoveries compared to $127,000 in loan recoveries for the three months ended March 31, 2015.  Specific allowance 
allocations for impaired loans totaled $399,000 at March 31, 2016 and $348,000 at December 31, 2015 and 
$806,000 at March 31, 2015.  See Balance Sheet Activity – Nonperforming Assets and Allowance for Loan Losses 
for additional discussion. 
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Future provisions for loan losses are dependent on asset quality trends, loan portfolio growth and the general 
condition of the economy.  As a significant portion of the Bank’s loan portfolio is collateralized by real estate, the 
valuation of the underlying collateral can have a significant impact on the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses 
and specific allocations for impaired loans, which may require future loan loss provisions. 

 
Non-interest Income 
 

The following are the sources of non-interest income for the periods indicated: 
 

(in thousands) March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015 Change

Service charges on deposit accounts 182$                       157$                       25$        
Rental income 138                         133                         5            
Net securities gains 133                         -                             133        
Net gain on other real estate owned -                             1,125                      (1,125)    
Loan servicing, net 1                             2                             (1)           
Other income -                             126                         (126)       
   Total non-interest income 454$                       1,543$                    (1,089)$  

Three Months Ended

 
 
Service charges on deposit accounts increased in the 2016 period primarily due to increased number of demand 

deposit accounts. The gain on other real estate owned in 2015 resulted from the sale of one foreclosed property. 
Other income includes rental income on other real estate owned which was $0 and $126,000 for the three months 
ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.  The Bank currently does not have any remaining other real estate owned.  The net 
securities gains for the first quarter of 2016 were due to bonds being called at a price higher than the book balance. 

 
Non-interest Expense 
 

The following are the sources of non-interest expense for the periods indicated: 
 

(in thousands) March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015 Change

Salaries and employee benefits 1,587$                    1,412$                    175$    
Occupancy and equipment 265                         309                         (44)      
Other expenses 1,046                      1,047                      (1)        
   Total non-interest expense 2,898$                    2,768$                    130$    

Three Months Ended

 
 
Salaries and employee benefits expense increased for the 2016 period primarily due to annual salary increases and 

increased employees.  Occupancy and equipment expenses were reduced for the first quarter of 2016 from an 
insurance covered damage of equipment of $53,000.  Deferred loan origination expenses in 2016 were $190,000 for 
the three month period compared to $228,000 for the same period in 2015. The amount of expenses deferred is 
dependent on the number and types of loans originated during a period. 

 
Provision for Income Taxes 
 

The Bank accrues income tax expense based on the anticipated annual tax rates during the financial period 
covered. The provision for income taxes and effective combined Federal and State corporate income tax rates for the 
three months ended March 31, 2016 were $931,000 (41.2%) compared to $1,208,000 (41.2%) and for the same 
period ended March 31, 2015.  
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Balance Sheet Activity 
 
At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 
 
Investment Portfolio 
 

Securities classified as available-for-sale for accounting purposes are recorded at their fair value on the balance 
sheet. Available-for-sale (AFS) investment securities carried at fair value totaled $116,966,000 at March 31, 2016 
and comprised 22% of total assets compared to amortized cost of $115,088,000.  At March 31, 2016, the Bank had 
investment securities classified as held-to-maturity, carried at cost of $5,989,000 with a fair market value of 
$5,926,000 and represented 1.1% of total assets.  At December 31, 2015, investment securities comprised 26% of 
total assets with AFS investments at a fair value of $128,599,000 and amortized cost of $127,735,000. Held-to-
maturity investments at December 31, 2015 were carried at amortized cost of $5,988,000 and had a fair market value 
of $5,854,000.  Changes in the fair value of AFS securities (e.g., unrealized holding gains or losses) are reported as 
“other comprehensive income (loss),” net of tax, and carried as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss, 
net of tax, within shareholders’ equity until realized, unless any declines in value below amortized cost are the result 
of other than temporary impairment.  The held-to-maturity investments are government agency callable securities 
with step-up interest rates. 

During the first three months of 2016, bonds were purchased with an initial cost of $5,494,000 and bonds were 
called with an amortized cost of $18,132,000.  The net gain on the called bonds was $133,000. 

The Bank utilizes the investment portfolio to manage liquidity and attract funding that requires collateralization. 
At March 31, 2016, investment securities with fair value of $40,055,000 were pledged to secure time deposits from 
the State of California or pledged for the Federal Discount Window and represented 33% of the investment 
portfolio.  At December 31, 2015, investment securities with fair value of $39,235,000, or 29% of the investment 
portfolio, were pledged.  At March 31, 2016 investment securities with a fair value of $57,219,000 were callable 
within one year. 

The Bank has two corporate bonds that are issued by companies in the oil and gas drilling industry.  All 
contractual interest has been paid.  The market value of the bonds is $370,000 with amortized cost of $459,000. 

The Bank does not own securities of any single issuer (other than U.S. Government agencies and corporations) 
whose aggregate book value was in excess of 10% of the Bank’s total shareholders’ equity at the time of purchase. 
 
Loan Portfolio 
 
The following table shows the composition of the loan portfolio by amount, percentage of total loans for each major 
loan category and the dollar volume and percentage change between the dates indicated. 
 

(in thousands) March 31, 2016 % December 31, 2015 % Net Change
Percent  
Change

Commercial & agricultural (1) 80,398$                               22.1% 75,018$                          21.6% 5,380$          7.2%

Real estate - commercial 188,578                               51.8% 175,374                          50.4% 13,204          7.5%

Real estate - construction and land 11,992                                 3.3% 11,341                            3.3% 651               5.7%

Real estate - single family 61,043                                 16.8% 63,899                            18.4% (2,856)           (4.5)%

Real estate - multifamily 21,726                                 6.0% 21,664                            6.2% 62                 0.3%

Consumer & lease financing 551                                      0.2% 652                                 0.2% (101)              (15.5)%

364,288                               100% 347,948                          100% 16,340          4.7%

LESS:

Allowance for Loan Losses (4,735)                                  (4,731)                            (4)                  0.1%

Total Loans, Net 359,553$                             343,217$                        16,336$        4.8%

(1) Includes loans secured by farmland.

  
 
The Bank has experienced an increase in loan applications which resulted in the increased loan balances shown 

above.  The ability of the Bank to increase loans from one quarter to the next is dependent on the general economy 
of Sonoma County, California and the volume of loan applications received. 
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At March 31, 2016, the Bank had approximately $43,617,000 in undisbursed loan commitments, of which 
approximately $33,896,000 were commercial and agricultural and $9,558,000 related to real estate loan types.  At 
December 31, 2015, the Bank had approximately $37,772,000 in undisbursed loan commitments, of which 
approximately $27,606,000 were commercial and agricultural and $9,992,000 related to real estate loan types. 
 
Nonperforming Assets 
 

Nonperforming assets consist of nonperforming loans and other real estate owned. Nonperforming loans are those 
for which the borrower fails to perform under the terms of the obligation and consist of nonaccrual loans, accruing 
loans past due 90 days or more and restructured loans, if applicable. 

 
The following are the nonperforming assets for the respective periods:       
 

March 31, December 31, 
2016 2015

Nonaccrual loans 2,491$          1,610$             

Accruing loans past due 90 days or more 199               -                       

Total nonperforming loans 2,690            1,610               
Other real estate owned -                    -                       
Total nonperforming assets 2,690$          1,610$             

Nonperforming loans to total loans 0.74% 0.46%

Nonperforming assets to total assets 0.52% 0.31%

Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans 176.02% 293.86%

(in thousands)

 
 
Loans that are classified as TDRs were $3,817,000 at March 31, 2016, of which $3,491,000 were considered 

performing loans and $326,000 are nonperforming loans and are included in the table above.  The performing TDRs 
of $3,536,000 are primarily collateralized by single family residential or commercial real estate properties. 

Loans that are classified as TDRs were $3,863,000 at December 31, 2015, of which $3,536,000 were considered 
performing loans and $327,000 are nonperforming loans and are included in the table above.  The performing TDRs 
of $3,536,000 are primarily collateralized by single family residential or commercial real estate properties. 

There was no other real estate owned (OREO) at March 31, 2016 or December 31, 2015.   
 

Allowance for Loan Losses 
 

The Bank maintains the allowance for loan losses to provide for inherent losses in the loan portfolio. Additions to 
the allowance for loan losses are established through a provision for loan losses charged to expense. All loans which 
are judged to be uncollectible are charged against the allowance while any recoveries are credited to the allowance. 
The Bank’s policy is to charge off any known losses at the time of determination. Any unsecured loan more than 
90 days delinquent in payment of principal or interest and not in the process of collection is charged off in total. 
Secured loans are evaluated on a case by case basis to determine the ultimate loss potential to us subsequent to the 
liquidation of collateral. In those cases where we believe we are inadequately protected, a charge off will be made to 
reduce the loan balance to a level equal to the liquidation value of the collateral. 

The Bank’s loan policy provides procedures designed to evaluate and assess the credit risk factors associated with 
the loan portfolio, to enable management to assess such credit risk factors prior to granting new loans and to 
evaluate the sufficiency of the allowance for loan losses. Management conducts an assessment of the allowance for 
loan losses on a monthly basis and undertakes a more critical evaluation quarterly. At the time of the quarterly 
review, the Board of Directors evaluates and formally approves the adequacy of the allowance. The quarterly 
evaluation includes an assessment of the following factors: any external loan review and regulatory examination, 
estimated probable incurred loss exposure on each pool of loans, concentrations of credit, value of collateral, the 
level of delinquent and nonaccrual loans, trends in loan volume, effects of any changes in lending policies and 
procedures, changes in lending personnel, current economic conditions at the local, state and national level and a 
migration analysis of historical losses and recoveries for the prior twelve quarters. 
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In addition to the allowance for loan losses, the Bank maintains an allowance for losses for undisbursed loan 
commitments which is reported in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.  This allowance was $56,000 
as of March 31, 2016 and $44,000 as of December 31, 2015. 

 
The following table summarizes the activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses during the periods indicated. 

 
 

Three Months Ended Year Ended
March 31, December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands) 2015

Balance at beginning of period 4,731$                      5,143$                  

Charge-offs:
Commercial & agricultural -                                -                            
Real estate - commercial -                                -                            
Real estate - construction and land -                                -                            
Real estate - single family -                                -                            
Real estate - multifamily -                                -                            
Consumer & lease financing -                                2                           
Total loans charged-off -                                2                           

Recoveries:
Commercial & agricultural -                                222                       
Real estate - commercial -                                -                            
Real estate - construction and land -                                -                            
Real estate - single family 2                               135                       
Real estate - multifamily -                                -                            
Consumer & lease financing 2                               33                         
Total recoveries 4                               390                       

Net loans charged-off (recovered) (4)                              (388)                      

Provision for (reversal of) loan losses -                                (800)                      
Allowance for loan losses - end of period 4,735$                      4,731$                  

Loans:
Average loans outstanding during period, net 
       of unearned income 361,125$                  314,806$              
Total loans at end of period, net of unearned income 364,288$                  347,948$              

Ratios:

Net loans charged-off to average net loans (1) 0.00% (0.12)%

Net loans charged-off to total loans (1) 0.00% (0.11)%

Allowance for loan losses to average net loans 1.31% 1.50%

Allowance for loan losses to total loans 1.30% 1.36%

Net loans charged-off to beginning allowance for loan losses (1) (0.34)% (7.54)%

Net loans charged-off (recovered)  to provision for loan losses (2) NM NM

(1) Annualized
(2) Not meaningful

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY IN ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES 

2015
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Allocation of Allowance for Loan Losses 
 

(in thousands)
 Allowance 
Allocation

Amount of 
Category 
Loans to 

Total Loans 
 Allowance 
Allocation

Amount of 
Category 
Loans to 

Total Loans 

Commercial & agricultural  $         1,069 22.1%  $         1,008 21.6%
Real estate - commercial             1,327 51.8%                940 50.4%
Real estate - construction and land                  60 3.3%                  57 3.3%
Real estate - single family                235 16.8%                237 18.4%

Real estate - multifamily                  87 6.0%                  43 6.2%

Consumer & lease financing                    5 0.2%                    6 0.2%
Unallocated             1,952             2,440 
  Total  $         4,735 100%  $      4,731 100%

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

 
 

The allowance allocation to real estate loan categories is highly dependent on the estimated real estate collateral 
values that secure specific troubled loans. The specific loans being evaluated at one period versus another can result 
in variations in the allocations. The increase in allowance allocation for the commercial real estate category between 
March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was attributable to an increase in the commercial real estate portfolio and 
one additional nonperforming commercial real estate collateralized loan.  The increase in allowance allocated to 
commercial and agricultural loans was primarily attributable to the increase in amount of these types of loans. 

Part of the allocation of the allowance for loan losses is based on other qualitative factors and is attributable to 
management’s assessment of various qualitative factors.  Qualitative factors included the size of individual credits, 
concentrations and general economic conditions.  Management also considers these qualitative factors in their 
evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses.  An unallocated allowance can arise from fluctuations in 
the amount of classified and nonperforming loans (“changes in credit grades”) between periods. The Internal Asset 
Review Committee reviews the amount and reasons for unallocated allowances and whether it has arisen due to 
periodic fluctuations in the credit grades or has arisen due to changes in qualitative factors or changes in lending 
strategies. If the unallocated allowance has arisen from other than periodic fluctuations in credit grades, then the 
Internal Asset Review Committee may determine that a portion of the allowance for loan losses should be reversed.  
Factors used in determining whether the unallocated allowance should be maintained includes the trend in impaired 
and classified loans, the projected increase in new loans and additional allowance that may be attributed to 
recoveries of previously charged-off loans.  
 
Deposits 
 

At March 31, 2016, the Bank had a deposit mix of 38% in time deposits, 21% in money market and savings 
accounts, and 41% in demand accounts. At December 31, 2015, the Bank had a deposit mix of 39% in time deposits, 
22% in money market and savings accounts, and 39% in demand accounts.  

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the State of California had $48,500,000 in time deposits with the 
Bank with maturities of up to 6 months and collateralized by investment securities and mortgage loans. These 
deposits are received through a program run by the Treasurer of the State of California to place public deposits with 
community banks.  The interest rates are tied to the U.S. Treasury three or six month rate at the origination of the 
time deposit. 

At March 31, 2016, the Bank had $76,239,000 in brokered deposits. This compares to $71,016,000 in brokered 
deposits at December 31, 2015. The brokered deposits included $36,969,000 and $35,206,000 in wholesale brokered 
deposits at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The remaining brokered deposits of $39,270,000 at March 31, 
2016 and $35,810,000 at December 31, 2015, were raised locally from the Bank’s customers through a reciprocal 
deposit placement service called CDARS and ICS, which are classified as brokered deposits for FFIEC Call Report 
purposes.  

The Bank obtains time deposits through an internet listing service. These deposits are primarily from other 
financial institutions.  There were $16,826,000 and $20,612,000 of internet obtained deposits at March 31, 2016 and 
December 31, 2015. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Maintenance of adequate liquidity requires that sufficient resources be available at all times to meet cash flow 
requirements of the Bank. Liquidity in a banking institution is required primarily to provide for deposit withdrawals 
and the credit needs of customers and to take advantage of investment opportunities as they arise. A bank may 
achieve desired liquidity from both assets and liabilities. Cash and deposits held in other banks, Federal funds sold, 
other short term investments, maturing loans and investments, payments of principal and interest on loans and 
investments, and potential loan and investment securities sales are sources of asset liquidity. Deposit growth and 
access to credit lines established with correspondent banks, primarily with the FHLB, Federal Reserve and access to 
brokered certificates of deposit are sources of liability liquidity. The Bank reviews its liquidity position on a regular 
basis based upon its current position and expected trends of loans and deposits. Management believes that the Bank 
maintains adequate sources of liquidity to meet its liquidity needs. 

The Bank’s liquid assets, defined as cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, Federal funds sold and the 
market value of unpledged available-for-sale investment securities, totaled $100,782,000 and constituted 19% of 
total assets at March 31, 2016 compared to $108,153,000 or 21% of total assets at December 31, 2015. 

Although the Bank’s sources of liquidity include liquid assets, the Bank maintains lines of credit with the Federal 
Home Loan Bank and other correspondent banks. The total of unused lines of credit was $96 million at March 31, 
2016 and $125 million at December 31, 2015.  The Bank actively utilizes its borrowing capacity with the Federal 
Home Loan Bank to manage liquidity as well as to provide a funding alternative to time deposits, if the Federal 
Home Loan Bank’s interest rates and terms are more favorable. The advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank 
can have maturities from overnight to multiple years.  The line of credit with the FHLB is based on eligible loans 
that are pledged for the borrowings. 

The Bank is able to borrow from the Federal Reserve Discount Window by pledging investment securities or 
loans.  The amount that is available is dependent on the value of the assets pledged. 

As presented in the accompanying unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows, the sources of liquidity vary 
between periods.  Our cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2016 totaled $23,127,000, an increase of $5,544,000 
over December 31, 2015.  The primary uses of funds during the first three months of 2016 were $5,494,000 in 
investment security purchases and $16,121,000 increase in loans.  The primary sources of funds during the first 
three months of 2016 included $18,132,000 from maturities, calls and sales of investment securities and $7,855,000 
from an increase in deposits. 
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The following table presents the capital ratios for Summit State Bank and the correspondent regulatory minimum 
requirements: 

 

(in thousands) Amount Ratio

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    13.1%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 26,491$    6.5%
Minimum regulatory requirement 18,340$    4.5%

Tier 1 Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    13.1%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 32,605$    8.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 24,453$    6.0%

Total Capital Ratio

Summit State Bank 58,257$    14.3%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 40,756$    10.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 32,605$    8.0%

Tier 1 Leverage Ratio

Summit State Bank 53,466$    10.3%

Minimum requirement for "Well-Capitalized" institution 25,907$    5.0%
Minimum regulatory requirement 20,725$    4.0%

March 31, 2016

 
 
The Bank’s capital is supplemented through the retention of net income less dividends paid.  The Bank’s current 

quarterly common dividend is $0.12 per share or $574,000 for the first quarter of 2016. 
 
Impact of Inflation 
 

The primary impact of inflation on the Bank is its effect on interest rates. The Bank’s primary source of income 
is net interest income, which is affected by changes in interest rates. The Bank attempts to limit the impact of 
inflation on its net interest margin through management of rate-sensitive assets and liabilities and analyses of 
interest rate sensitivity. The effect of inflation on premises and equipment as well as on non-interest expenses has 
not been significant for the periods presented. 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 40 

Item 3 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Proper management of the rate sensitivity and maturities of assets and liabilities is required to provide an 
optimum and stable net interest margin. Interest rate sensitivity spread management is an important tool for 
achieving this objective and for developing ways in which to improve profitability.  Management has assessed its 
market risk at March 31, 2016, and believes that there has been no material change since December 31, 2015.  

The Bank constantly monitors earning asset and deposit levels, developments and trends in interest rates, 
liquidity, capital adequacy and marketplace opportunities.  Management responds to all of these to protect and 
possibly enhance net interest income while managing risks within acceptable levels as set forth in the Bank’s 
policies.  In addition, alternative business plans and transactions are contemplated for their potential impact.  This 
process is known as asset/liability management and is carried out by changing the maturities and relative proportions 
of the various types of loans, investments, deposits and borrowings in the ways described above. The Board 
monitors and establishes target positions for interest rate and market value risks through the Asset Liability 
Committee of the Board. 

The tool most commonly used to manage and analyze the interest rate sensitivity of a bank is known as a 
computer simulation model. To quantify the extent of risks in both the Bank’s current position and in transactions it 
might make in the future, the Bank uses a model to simulate the impact of different interest rate scenarios on net 
interest income. The hypothetical impact of an interest rate shock for incremental interest rate changes up to 4.00% 
is modeled quarterly, representing the primary means the Bank uses for interest rate risk management decisions. The 
Bank is liability sensitive; that is, more liabilities reprice within one year than assets.  The expectation for a liability 
sensitive bank is that the net interest margin will decline in a rising interest rate environment.  

When preparing its modeling, the Bank makes significant assumptions about the lag in the rate of change in 
various asset and liability categories. The Bank bases its assumptions on past experience and comparisons with other 
banks, and tests the validity of its assumptions by reviewing actual results with projected expectations. 

The computer simulation model projects at March 31, 2016 that the decline over a one year period in net interest 
income for a 4% shock increase in interest rates is $3,712,000 or 19.7%.  The computer simulation model assumes a 
static balance sheet, that is, cash flows from various assets and liabilities are reinvested in similar assets and 
liabilities.  It does not model various dynamic changes in the pricing or term of new assets and liabilities that may 
occur during the year after the interest rate shock. 

The Bank’s investment portfolio has an average maturity of 7.4 years, and would be susceptible to a material 
decline in market value if interest rates were to materially rise. Management monitors this exposure in relation to the 
Bank’s capital ratios and the interaction of the projected changes in other interest sensitive assets and liabilities to 
reach a desired balance between current earnings and market risk. 
 
Item 4 Controls and Procedures  

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Bank’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, the Bank conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its 
disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Based on the evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of 
the period covered by this report the disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective, and that the 
material information required to be included in this report, including information from the Bank’s consolidated 
subsidiary, was properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported, and was made known to the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others within the Bank in a timely manner, particularly during the 
period when this quarterly report on Form 10-Q was being prepared. 

There was no change in the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent 
fiscal quarter that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial 
reporting. 

 
PART II OTHER INFORMATION  

Item 1 Legal Proceedings 

The nature of our business causes us to be involved in legal proceedings from time to time. As of the date of this 
report, the Bank is not a party to any litigation where management anticipates that the outcome will have a material 
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations. 
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Item 1A Risk Factors  

Risk Factors in Form 10-K incorporated by reference.  
 
Item 2 Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds  

None. 

Item 3 Defaults Upon Senior Securities  

None.  

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable. 
 
Item 5 Other Information  

None. 

Item 6 Exhibits  

The exhibits filed as part of this report are listed on the Exhibit Index filed as part of this report. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  

Summit State Bank 

(registrant)  

May 12, 2016                                /s/ James E. Brush 

Date  James E. Brush 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
 

 

May 12, 2016                                  /s/ Dennis E. Kelley 

Date  Dennis E. Kelley 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
 
 

EXHIBIT INDEX 
Exhibit Number Description 

31.01 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as 
adopted pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

31.02 Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(a)/15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.01 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting 
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 
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Exhibit 31.01  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to §302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, Thomas M. Duryea, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Summit State Bank (the registrant) for the quarter ended March 31, 
2016;  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;   
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusion about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  
 
 
 
May 12, 2016                                     /s/ James E. Brush   

 
Date                                          James E. Brush 

                          President and Chief Executive Officer 
                          (Principal Executive Officer) 
                          Summit State Bank 
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Exhibit 31.02  

Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to §302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, Dennis E. Kelley, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Summit State Bank (the registrant) for the quarter ended March 31, 
2016;  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and  
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  
 
 
 
May 12, 2016                            /s/ Dennis E. Kelley     

Date                                           Dennis E. Kelley 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
Summit State Bank
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EXHIBIT 32.01  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as 
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Summit State Bank (the Registrant) for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, as 
filed with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the undersigned hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to 
§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,that:  

1) such Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 

2) the information contained in such Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Registrant.  

May 12, 2016              /s/ James E. Brush     
Date   James E. Brush 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 
 

May 12, 2016                /s/ Dennis E. Kelley     
Date    Dennis E. Kelley 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
       (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This certification accompanies each report pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent 
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended.  


